1988

Mark D. Letham v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Big Basin Ent, Workers Compensation Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an action for review and determination of the lawfulness of an award of the Industrial Commission of Utah. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction by virtue of Utah Code Annotated, Sections 35-1-83 and 35-1-84.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is a Petition for Review of the failure of the Industrial Commission of Utah to order additional Temporary Total Disability and Permanent Impairment benefits to be paid to injured employee, Mark D. Letham as a result of a disabling industrial accident, which is for a review of two Orders of the Law Judge, dated November 3, 1987 (R-270) and January 27, 1988 (R-283), and the Order of the Industrial Commission of Utah, attached hereto as Addendum No. 1 (R-315).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented to the Court for review:

1. Whether the Judge and the Commission viewed the facts in a light most favorable to the applicant as required by law.

2. Whether the Judge and the Commission acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner amounting to an abuse of discretion or without substantial evidence in entering Orders not supported by the evidence in denying all benefits.

3. Whether the Judge and Commission abused their judicial discretion and acted contrary to the law in, refusing to allow the matter to go to a medical panel for evaluation.

4. Whether the case was fairly reviewed by the Commission when they heard and viewed a video presentation by the defendant but did not have a transcript to properly review the presentation of the applicant.

5. Whether there was, in fact, sufficient evidence to enter an Order in favor of the applicant, finding that he was entitled to additional Temporary Total Disability benefits and finding that the applicant was entitled to Permanent Partial Impairment benefits based on 10 or 15% of the whole man, there being no medical evidence to the contrary.

6. Whether the applicant was entitled to have the case reviewed by a medical panel, as required by Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated and held to be mandatory by case law.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

The statutes, cases and authorities believed to be determinative of the respective issues raised include:

1. Section 35-1-45, Utah Code Annotated provides that an employee is entitled to compensation for an accident arising out of or during the course of employment (Addendum No. 6).

2. Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated provides that an applicant is entitled to have his case reviewed by a medical panel (Addendum No. 5).

3. Section 35-1-84, Utah Code Annotated holding the Court of Appeals may set aside an award of the Industrial Commission.

4. Savage v. Industrial Commission, (Utah) 565 P2d 782; Henry v. Rocky Mountain Packing Corp., (Utah) 196 P2d 487; Utah Consolidated Mines v. Industrial Commission, (Utah) 36 P2d 979: if there is any doubt respecting the right to compensation, such doubt should be resolved in favor of the injured employee.

5. M & M Corp v. Industrial Commission, (Utah) 189 P2d 132; McPhie v. Industrial Commission, (Utah 1977) 567 P2d 153; Prows v. Industrial Commission, (Utah 1980) 610 P2d 1362; and many others: the statute should be liberally construed in favor of

awarding benefits, and if there is any doubt respecting the right to compensation, it should be resolved in favor of recovery of the applicant.

6. Lipmann v. Industrial Commission, (Utah 1979) 592 P2d 616, 618; Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, (Utah 1980) 617 P2d 693; Makoff Company v. Industrial Commission, (Utah) 368 P2d 70: requires appointment of a medical panel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a typical case of a hard-working young man who suffers from a severe back injury incurred in March, 1985 while lifting. He returned to work and re-injured his lower back in February, 1986, again with heavy lifting, and received conservative treatment, but finally underwent disc excision surgery in November, 1986 (R-150), with repair surgery in December, 1986 (R-147). His neurosurgeon gave him a 10% pre-release rating (Addendum 2, R. 266) and later, after release, rated him at 15% Permanent Partial Impairment (Addendum 2) with no contradictory medical opinions, but the Law Judge refused to grant Permanent Impairment and refused to send him to a medical panel.

The facts material to a consideration of the questions presented are as follows:

1. The applicant, Mark D. Letham, was a skilled Journeyman Industrial Electrician with an excellent health record, an excellent work record, and with no previous claims. He was

involved in two severe, well-documented industrial accidents, the first of which on March 19, 1985 (R-20) and the other, February 10, 1986 (R-30). Both were the result of straining while lifting, and in each case resulting in an immediate, severe disabling lower back pain which finally required surgery to correct. The Law Judge, in an extreme abuse of discretion, acting arbitrarily, capriciously and without substantial evidence, found no accident had occurred (R-270, 283). The Commission on review reversed this portion of the ruling and found an accident had occurred. Based on the Order of the Commission (R-315, Addendum No. 1) finding that an accident occurred (as defined in Section 35-1-45, Utah Code Annotated), the question of "an accident" is NOT an issue.

2. Some benefits were paid. As the time drew near for a medical release, the defendants, rather than employing a doctor to perform an independent medical examination, selected rather to hire private investigators to prevaricate their way into the confidence of the applicant, promise him employment in the field of the hobby he loved most (R-88), and took pictures of the activities of the applicant (R-89), which pictures were substituted for and in lieu of medical opinions as to the medical questions determinative of a period of Temporary Total Disability and a percentage of Permanent Impairment.

3. At the hearing held on October 22, 1987, the applicant's evidence was overwhelming and undisputed that two

industrial accidents occurred (R-20, 30), that the applicant was disabled (R-21, 34), and required back surgery on November 4, 1986 (R-35) and suffered a Permanent Partial Impairment of 10% (R-266), later 15%. There was absolutely no testimony, evidence or medical evidence to the contrary. The defendants introduced video pictures taken in May and June, 1987 as the applicant was recovering from surgery, and the testimonies of the investigators were heard.

DISPOSITION BY COMMISSION

The Judge entered his Order November 3, 1987, totally disregarding the medical evidence introduced by the applicant, and in an extreme showing of prejudice and an unconscionable abuse of a discretion, ruled erroneously as follows:

1. Refused to refer the matter to a medical panel.
2. Ruled that no industrial accident had occurred, (a ruling reversed by the Commission on review).
3. Ruled that the applicant was not entitled to additional Temporary Total Disability; and
4. Ruled that the applicant was not entitled to Permanent Partial Impairment benefits.

The Administrative Law Judge issued a Supplemental Order on January 27, 1988; and in an equally extreme abuse of discretion, found that the applicant did not sustain a compensable

industrial accident on either of those alleged dates and that the applicant's testimony was not credible.

The Commission, without having heard the testimony of the applicant and without having a transcript of the proceedings (transcript was not made up until June 8, 1988 for purpose of appeal), presenting the applicant's testimony, purported to review the case. It appeared, however, that the Commission did view the video presentation of the defendant. Obviously, the Commission reviewed only the presentation of the defendants and were not able to consider or review the presentation of the applicant. The Administrative Law Judge and the Commission completely overlooked the fact that any patient recovering from surgery gradually increases his activities during the period of Temporary Total Disability in preparation for return to work. The applicant was increasing his activities when he set up his teepee in May, 1987, about five (5) months after back surgery beginning April 27, 1987 (R-261). The teepee poles weigh about five (5) pounds (R-92).

The Commission, in its Order Denying the Motion for Review, reversed the Administrative Law Judge in finding that an industrial accident did occur, but the Commission concurred in the result by finding no additional Temporary Total Disability or Permanent Partial Impairment benefits were due to the applicant (R-315).

Both the Administrative Law Judge and the Commission ignored very conservative medical opinion of the treating neurosurgeon, M. Peter Heilbrun, M.D., who is the highly respected head of the Neurosurgical Department of the University of Utah Medical Center. Dr. Heilbrun has acted as a medical panel for the Commission on previous occasions, and his opinions have been greatly respected by the Judges and the Commission. Such a reputable opinion, finding a minimal 10% impairment and later finding 15% (R-266, Addendum No. 2) should have caused the Judge and the Commission grant the amount requested or, at least, appoint a Medical Panel to determine a reasonable date of termination of Temporary Total Disability and a reasonable Permanent Partial Impairment rating. In my personal nine years as an Administrative Law Judge and subsequent years of practice in the field, I have never heard of an case where there was not a finding of at least 10% Permanent Partial Impairment resulting from major back surgery (see Addendums 3 and 4). Such would have been the testimony of Dr. Heilbrun or some other specialist if permitted to testify. Medical testimony other than medical records are not allowed at the original hearing. Medical testimony is allowed only in a second hearing if there is a disagreement with a Medical Panel based on specific objections to the Medical Panel. The applicant, therefore, was precluded from

putting on additional medical evidence by not having a Medical Panel review the case.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously, without substantial evidence in an exercise of an abuse of discretion in denying additional Temporary Total Disability benefits and in denying all Permanent Partial Impairment benefits and in refusing to have the applicant evaluated by a Medical Panel, which actions of the Commission were contrary to the medical evidence, contrary to case law and contrary to the statutory mandate that a Medical Panel must review the medical aspects of the case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE APPLICANT IS ENTITLED TO COMPENSATION FOR HIS INDUSTRIAL INJURY.

Section 35-1-45, Utah Code Annotated (Addendum No. 6), provides every employee who is injured by accident arising out of or in the course of his employment shall be paid compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury.

The Commission found applicant was involved in an industrial accident. By statute, the applicant is entitled to compensation and payment of medical costs. The Worker's Compensation Fund stated they would not pay any further medical costs after June, 1987 (R-40) and Temporary Total Disability benefits were cut off June 2, 1987. As of Dr. Heilbrun's medical

report of July 21, 1987 (R-266), applicant had still not been released for either light duty or usual work, and the doctor only gave a preliminary estimate of 10% Permanent Partial Impairment.

The applicant returned to work without a release on August 22, 1987 (R-40). He still has some pain in his back and aching at night, but as a Foreman, he does not have to do the heavy work (R-42).

After the hearing, Dr. Heilbrun provided his final report dated November 6, 1987 acknowledging a release date of August 22, 1987 and finding a Permanent Impairment of 15% (Addendum 2).

The applicant, then, is entitled to Temporary Total Disability benefits from June 2, 1987 to August 22, 1987, Permanent Partial Impairment benefits based on 15% and continued medical treatment as needed.

No medical evidence was introduced to refute these medical claims.

The Commission had no medical evidence nor any other logical evidence upon which to base the denial.

The full extent of the Commission's unconscionable abuse of discretion is shown by the fact that all medical practitioners would agree that a person having undergone major back surgery has some percentage of Permanent Impairment. After over ten years of experience, I do not recall a case where major back surgery is not rated 10% or more.

The Manual for Orthopedic Surgeons, in evaluating Permanent Physical Impairment, states on page 30 (Addendum No. 3):

B. Surgical excision of disc, no fusion, good results, no persistent sciatic pain--10%.

C. Surgical excision of disc, no fusion, moderate persistent pain and stiffness, aggravated by heavy lifting with necessary modification of activity--20%.

The applicant fits in the 20% category. Applicant had a L5-S1 discectomy (removal of disc without a fusion) (R-162).

As late as April 27, 1987 Dr. Heilbrun notes:

Patient is unchanged in that he continues to have intermittent sharp pains in the back. . .radiating into both legs which occurs predominantly when he extends his back. (R-162)

The doctor is so concerned that he orders a lumbar myelogram on April 27, 1987 (R-152, 153).

The American Medical Association Guide to Evaluation (Addendum 4, p. 57, Table 53,13 (3), rates operated, clinically established disc dearrangement with residual 5% plus combining with appropriate residuals which involves loss of strength or range of motion (p. 74, Table 5) and pain and discomfort factors (p. 73, Table 4). Subparagraph 2 rates decreased sensation with or without pain which is forgotten during activity, 25%. (This residual is then added to the original 5%.)

POINT II: THE APPLICANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN AWARDED TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY AND PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT BENEFITS BASED ON THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN REFERRED TO A MEDICAL PANEL FOR EVALUATION.

Section 35-1-77 Utah Code Annotated provides that where there are medical questions involved, especially where there is a conflict in the medical evidence, the matter may be referred to a Medical Panel for evaluation.

In the present case, the ONLY medical evidence introduced after applicant's surgery provided for additional Temporary Total Disability, Permanent Partial Impairment and continued medical treatment (R-266, Addendum 2). No medical evidence provided otherwise. Neither the Judge nor the Commissioners can act as medical practitioners, nor can they rule without contradictory medical opinions. The Commission cannot substitute its opinion to override the opinion of a qualified, highly respected doctor such as Dr. Heilbrun. The Commission have used Dr. Heilbrun as a Medical Panel on numerous occasions and have highly regarded his opinions.

In such a case as this, it is mandatory that the Commission either accept the only medical opinion or refer the matter to a Medical Panel.

In the case of Schmidt v. Industrial Commission (Utah 1980), 617 P2d 693, in referring to Section 35-1-77, stated on page 696 as follows:

This statute mandates the submission of the medical aspects of the case to the medical panel. . .The language of the statute is clear. When an accidental injury, such as in the present case, has occurred, the submission of the medical aspects of the case, including those involving causation, is mandatory.

Because the present injury is of a type held by the Court to fall within the provisions of Section 35-1-45, the Administrative Law Judge's conclusion that no accident occurred should not be reached from the facts presented, without submission of the matter to the Medical Panel.

This case follows the case of Lipmann v. Industrial Commission (Utah 1979) 592 P2d 616.

POINT III: THE EVIDENCE MUST BE VIEWED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE APPLICANT AND ALL DOUBTS ARE TO BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF A WORKER'S COMPENSATION CLAIM.