1988

Mark D. Letham v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Big Basin Enterprises, Workers Compensation Fund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

The argument is that the Commission had ample evidence upon which to base its decision and that its decision was a reasonable one in light of the many heavy physical activities Applicant was undertaking while reporting to his physicians symptoms incompatible with his activity level.

POINT II

Sec. 35-1-77 Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended 1982), makes it clear that the Commission has full discretion about whether or not to convene a medical panel in a given case; and, therefore, the Commission did not err in not referring the medical issues to a medical panel in this case. There was sufficient, reliable, substantive medical evidence to support the Commission's denial.

POINT III

The Commission adopted the extensive findings of facts of the Administrative Law Judge, reviewed the videotapes; and, therefore, a transcript of the hearing was unnecessary. Consequently, the Commission did not err in conducting its review of the issues. While not conceding error, if it was error to not review the transcript, it was harmless error, especially when the videotapes of Applicant's activities and the audiotape of the hearing were available.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COMMISSION HAD SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT ITS ORDER AND DID NOT ACT IN AN ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS MANNER.

In Points I, II and III of Appellant's Brief, Appellant raises issues concerning the sufficiency of the evidence.

Concerning issues of evidence, the standard of review has been stated recently by this Court in American Roofing Co. v. Indus. Comm., 752 P.2d 912, 914 (Utah App. 1988):

In reviewing a decision by the Commission, "this Court will not disturb the findings and orders of the Commission unless they are arbitrary and capricious, and they are arbitrary and capricious when they are contrary to the evidence or without any reasonable basis in the evidence." Rushton v. Gelco Express, 732 P.2d 109, 111 (Utah 1986).

Another statement of the standard of review is found in Peck v. Eimco Process Equipment Co., 748 P.2d 572 , 575 (Utah 1987):

In reviewing the evidentiary basis for findings of fact made by the Industrial Commission, this Court inquires only whether the Commission's findings are supported by substantial evidence. Bigfoot's Inc. v. Industrial Comm'n, 714 P.2d 1152, 1153 (Utah 1986).

We contend that the Commission's findings are, indeed, amply supported by substantial evidence and that the Commission's findings are not arbitrary or capricious.

At Points I and II, Appellant relies entirely on the evidence of Dr. Peter Heilbrun. Dr. Heilbrun was one of Applicant's attending physicians. In a letter dated November 6, 1987, Dr. Heilbrun assigns Applicant a release date of August 22, 1987, and

an impairment rating of 15% of whole man. (Record, p. 282) At Point I, Appellant claims, "No medical evidence was introduced to refute these medical claims."

Medical Evidence. First, it should be noted that the Commission is not required to give any special weight to the evidence of the attending physician. In Rushton v. Gelco Express, 732 P.2d 109 (Utah 1986), the applicant claimed benefits for a knee condition which her attending physician believed was caused by an industrial accident. According to the applicant in that case, the Administrative Law Judge was required to give preference to the findings of the treating physician. This contention however, was flatly rejected by the Utah Supreme Court. 732 P.2d at 111-112.

Second, Appellant's Brief gives the impression that there was no medical evidence to support Defendants' side of this case; but this is incorrect.

There are the CT Scan reports of March 19, 1985, and February 12, 1986. Both reports mention only a small disk bulge that does not displace any nerve roots. (Record, pp. 112, 118)

There is evidence from Dr. Robert Lamb. In his notes of April 16, 1985, he states: "I think that his back discomfort depends on his ability to improve his posture." (Record, p. 120) His diagnosis was: "Possible central disk protrusion and acute lumbar strain. (Record, p. 121, 123)

In March, 1986, Dr. Aaron Barson stated that he did not think Applicant's back condition warranted surgery. (Record, p. 131)

There is also the letter of Dr. Gerard F. Vanderhooft, May 14, 1986, in which he confirms the diagnosis of Dr. Lamb that Applicant had "a lumbar sprain syndrome without significant disk herniation." (Record, p. 101) Dr. Vanderhooft states:

This man had what appears to be a reasonable industrial accident in March of 1985. He then improved in a reasonable amount of time and returns to work and six months later while doing ordinary work that is expected of him, he starts having back pain again. In the meantime, the evaluation has ruled out any significant intervertebral disc herniation. He has not then nor is he now a candidate for surgery. Enzyme injections in the disc space and surgery are both contraindicated in my opinion.

(Record, p. 102, emphasis added) Dr. Vanderhooft attributed Applicant's back problems primarily to his sway back, and Dr. Vanderhooft's evaluation was that "this man has no permanent impairment." (Record, p. 103)

In short, there was sufficient medical evidence in the record from which the Commission could reasonable have inferred an alternative theory of the case. The evidence supports conclusions that Applicant did no more than "sprain" his back in the March 1985 and/or February 1986 industrial accidents and that the herniated disk, which Dr. Heilbrun repaired in the November 1986 surgery, was the result of some non-industrial accident that occurred after the CT Scans of March 1985 and February 1986 or was the result of a nonindustrial, postural problem.

Non-medical evidence. In addition to medical evidence, the Commission had a good deal of non-medical evidence bearing on Applicant's condition, namely, the video tape of Applicant's

mountainman activities and the testimony of the investigators who did the taping.

It is not true, as Appellant seems to suggest, that the Commission is bound to consider only medical evidence (evidence from medical authorities) in making determinations about an applicant's alleged injury. Section 35-1-88, Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended), makes it clear that the Commission may receive any evidence (medical or non-medical) that is material and relevant for proof of any fact (medical or non-medical). Section 35-1-88 states in part:

The Commission may receive as evidence and use as proof of any fact in dispute all evidence deemed material and relevant"

(Emphasis added) See also, Rushton v. Gelco Express, 739 P.2d 109, 111-112 (Utah 1986). Moreover, the Commission is not required to accept opinions of medical experts and may, in fact, find contrary to the only medical evidence received. Griffith v. Indus. Comm., 754 P.2d 981 (Utah App. 1988); Rushton v. Gelco Express, 732 P.2d 109 (Utah 1986); Shipley v. C & W Contracting Co., 528 P.2d 153 (Utah 1974). See also: Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law, Vol. 3, Sec. 79, "Evidence."

Appellant's claims for additional temporary total disability benefits and permanent partial impairment benefits are based on Dr. Heilbrun's letter of November 1987. Appellant suggests in his brief that there was no other acceptable evidence (i.e., medical evidence) upon which the Commission could have based contrary findings. Yet, the video tape of Applicant's mountainman

activities provided material and relevant evidence concerning Applicant's condition. This evidence was perfectly acceptable, non-medical evidence. Thus, the Commission had substantial evidence to support its Order.

Credibility. Furthermore, the Commission's assessment of the evidence presented, both medical and non-medical, must be considered in light of the concern over credibility, which arose in this case. Under the applicable standard of review, the reviewing court "has no power to determine the weight of the evidence and credibility of the witnesses . . ." Bigfoot's Inc. v. Indus. Comm., 714 P.2d 1152, 1153 (Utah 1986); Staker v. Indus. Comm., 61 Utah 11, 209 P. 880 (1922).

In his Supplemental Order in the instance case, the Administrative Law Judge stated that "there existed a serious issue of credibility regarding the claim of the applicant." The Administrative Law Judge found "that the applicant's claim is not credible and trustworthy." (Record, p. 284) In its Order, the Commission agreed with these findings and pointed out that some of the medical reports of treating physicians were poisoned because they simply recounted what Applicant had inaccurately reported.

The Commission agrees with the Administrative Law Judge that, per the video tape, temporary total compensation was paid at a time when the applicant was clearly medically stable. The Commission also agrees that the medical evidence that has been submitted is somewhat unreliable as the applicant clearly was misrepresenting to the doctor or doctors involved as to what his true physical condition was.

(Record, p. 316)

Liberal construction. Finally, Appellant cites a number of cases at Point III in his brief for the proposition that doubts on close questions concerning the evidence should be resolved in favor of the applicant. (Appellant's Brief, p. 13) The answer to this is simply that neither the Administrative Law Judge nor the Commission found the disputed factual issues to be close questions, and the available evidence certainly makes clear that such an assessment was reasonable.

It might also be noted that all the cases cited by Appellant speak of doubts concerning construction of workers' compensation statutes or acts being decided in favor of the applicant--not questions of fact. Presumably, the facts should be ascertained first, and only then should the relevant statutes be interpreted and applied. The central disputes in this case have been over factual issues regarding Applicant's condition and credibility and not over points of statutory interpretation.

Considering the problems with Applicant's credibility and considering all the medical and non-medical evidence presented to the Commission, it is clear that the Commission's findings were not arbitrary and capricious and that, to the contrary, they were amply supported by the evidence.

POINT II

THE COMMISSION'S DECISION CONCERNING A MEDICAL PANEL IS ENTIRELY DISCRETIONARY UNDER THE 1982 AMENDMENT, AND THE COMMISSION DID NOT COMMIT ERROR WHEN IT DID NOT CONVENE A MEDICAL PANEL.

In Point II of Appellant's Brief, he asserts that it was "mandatory" that the Commission refer the case to a medical panel. In support of his position, Appellant refers to Section 35-1-77 and cites Schmidt v. Indus. Comm., 617 P.2d 693 (Utah 1983). (Appellant's Brief, p. 12)

Appellant refers to unamended law and not the current version of the relevant statute. The former version of Sec. 35-1-77 of the Workers' Compensation Act stated in pertinent part:

Upon the filing of a claim for compensation for injury by accident, or for death, arising out of or in the course of employment, and where the employer or insurance carrier denies liability, the commission shall refer the medical aspects of the case to a medical panel. . . .

(Emphasis added) The 1982 amendment, however, substituted "may" for "shall" in the first sentence, thus giving the Commission complete discretion concerning the appointment of medical panels. The relevant portion of the current version of Sec. 35-1-77 reads as follows:

(1)(a) Upon the filing of a claim for compensation for injury by accident, or for death, arising out of or in the course of employment, and if the employer or its insurance carrier denies liability, the commission may refer the aspects of the case to a medical panel

(Emphasis added) The present version of Sec. 35-1-77 also

provides an alternative method for obtaining medical evaluations.

But here too the Commission is given complete discretion:

(b) As an alternative method of obtaining an impartial medical evaluation of the medical aspects of a controverted case, the commission in its sole discretion may employ a medical director or medical consultants

(Emphasis added) The older case of Schmidt v. Indus. Comm., cited by Appellant, refers to the pre-1982 version of Sec. 35-1-77. See 617 P.2d at 695-696. The Utah Supreme Court has confirmed that the Commission now has complete discretion as to whether a case is referred to a medical panel. Moore v. American Coal Co., 737 P.2d 989 (Utah 1987); Champion Home Builders v. Indus. Comm., 703 P.2d 306-308 (Utah 1985).

It is abundantly clear that the appointment of a medical panel by the Commission is no longer mandatory. Accordingly, the Commission did not commit error when, in its sound discretion, it decided not to appoint a medical panel in this case.

POINT III

THE COMMISSION COMMITTED ONLY HARMLESS ERROR,
IF ANY, WHEN IT REVIEWED THE CASE WITHOUT A
TRANSCRIPT OF THE HEARING.

The fourth issue listed in Appellant's Brief, under Statement Of The Issues, challenges the fairness of the Commission's review. Appellant, apparently, wishes to suggest that it was reversible error for the Commission to review the case without having a transcript of the hearing. (Appellant's Brief, p. 2) Appellant offers no argument on this issue, however.

In most cases, the Commission adopts the findings of fact of the Administrative Law Judge, especially when concerns about the credibility of a key witness are involved. Such is the case here. The Administrative Law Judge's findings of fact were set out in very considerable detail in the Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law and Order of November 3, 1988; and this, of course, was part of the record which the Commission reviewed. Further, the Commission did review the videotapes of Applicant's physical activities; and it had access to the audiotapes of the hearing itself, as all hearings before Administrative Law Judges are taped. The Commission also had before it Applicant's motion for review in which Applicant presented his version of the facts in a light most favorable to his claimed errors. Thus, the fact that the Commission did not have a copy of the transcript is of little moment in providing a full review of the circumstances. If this was error, it was harmless at worst.

CONCLUSION

The Order of the Commission should be affirmed, since the Commission did not commit any reversible error. The findings of the Administrative Law Judge and the Commission are amply supported by substantial evidence in the record bearing on Applicant's credibility and his medical condition. The Commission was well within the bounds of reasonable discretion when it decided not to appoint a medical panel in this case. And lack of a hearing transcript constituted harmless error at most when the Commission conducted its review as it was more than amply apprised

of the circumstances by the opposing parties, the video- and audiotapes and the factual summary of the Administrative Law Judge.

Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request this Court to affirm the Order of the Commission in this matter.